1990

Walter P. Larson, an individual, and Larson Ford Sales, Inc., a Delaware corporation v. Stephen Wade, individuall, and Stephen Wade, Bryce Wade, Kipp Wade, dba SBK, a general partnership, and Valley Ford, a Utah corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THIS COURT  
AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

On July 14, 1988, the Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County, the Honorable J. Dennis Frederick presiding, granted defendants' motion to dismiss, considered as a motion for summary judgment, based on Utah's four year statute of limitations, Section 78-12-25, Utah Code (R. 73-74). Thereafter, plaintiffs, appearing pro se, sought a one day extension of time to appeal that decision (R. 75-76). The District Court denied this request (R. 97-99). In a separate proceeding, the Utah Supreme Court found this denial to be an abuse of discretion and granted leave to appeal [Utah Supreme Court Case No. 88-0344] (R. 105). This appeal followed, (R. 107), and after filing, the Utah Supreme

Court transferred this appeal to the Utah Court of Appeals.

Plaintiffs appealed to the Utah Supreme Court pursuant to Section 78-2-2(3)(j), Utah Code ["orders, judgments, and decrees of any court of record over which the Court of Appeals does not have original appellate jurisdiction'] and the Utah Supreme Court thereafter transferred this appeal to the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Section 78-2-2(4), Utah Code. The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Section 78-2a-3(2)(j), Utah Code ["cases transferred to the Court of Appeals from the Supreme Court"].

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW  
AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether the District Court erred in dismissing plaintiffs' entire complaint, including plaintiffs' claims both in tort and contract, based on confirmation of a bankruptcy court plan more than four years prior to the filing of this suit, when the plan of reorganization was not even submitted by a party to this litigation, the terms of the plan of reorganization were never submitted into evidence, and the motion was opposed by affidavit and memorandum creating clear issues of fact requiring trial.

In reviewing this issue, no discretion need be accorded to the trial court. This Court views the facts in the light most favorable to plaintiffs, including all reasonable inferences arising therefrom. Spor v. Crested Butte Silver Mining, 740 P. 2d 1304 (Ut., 1987); Geneva Pipe Co. v. S. & H. Ins. Co., 714 P. 2d 648 (Ut., 1986). Further, this Court is free to reappraise



the District Court's legal conclusions since summary judgment may be granted only as a matter of law. Atlas Corporation v. Clovis National Bank, 737 P. 2d 225 (Ut., 1987).

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS,  
STATUTES, ORDINANCES, RULES, AND REGULATIONS

Rule 8(c), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure:

"Affirmative defenses....statute of limitations."

Rule 9(h), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure:

"In pleading the statute of limitations it is not necessary to state the facts showing the defense but it may be alleged generally that the cause of action is barred by the provisions of the statute relied on, referring to or describing such statute specifically and definitely by section number, subsection designation, if any...."

Rule 12(b)(6), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure:

"....failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted...."

Rule 12(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure:

".... If, on a motion asserting the defense numbered (6) to dismiss for failure of the pleading to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, matters outside the pleading are presented to and not excluded by the court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56."

Rule 56(c), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure:

"....The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material

fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law...."

Section 78-12-1, Utah Code:

"Civil actions may be commenced only within the periods prescribed in this chapter, after the cause of action has accrued, except in specific cases where a different limitation is prescribed by statute."

Sections 78-12-25(1) and (3), Utah Code:

"Within four years:

"(1) An action upon a contract, obligation, or liability not founded upon an instrument in writing....

"....

"(3) An action for relief not otherwise provided for by law."

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

##### Nature of the Case

This is a suit by plaintiffs against defendants for breach of contract, interference with business relations, breach of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment, conversion, and punitive damages (R. 2-9, Add. 1).

##### Course of Proceedings

By order entered July 14, 1988, the District Court dismissed plaintiffs' amended complaint in its entirety (R. 73-74, Add. 6). Thereafter, on September 19, 1988, the District Court denied plaintiffs' motion for a one day extension of time to appeal (R. 97-99).

On June 19, 1990, in a separate appeal, the Utah Supreme Court reversed the September 19, 1988 Order of the District Court and granted leave to appeal the dismissal of plaintiffs' amended complaint (R. 105). Following this grant of leave to appeal, plaintiffs filed the present appeal (R. 107). The Utah Supreme Court then transferred this appeal to the Court of Appeals.

#### Disposition in the Court Below

The court below dismissed plaintiffs' amended complaint in its entirety (R. 73-74, Add. 4). Plaintiffs appeal (R. 107).

#### Statement of Facts /1

1. On June 24, 1987, plaintiffs filed their complaint against defendants alleging:

a. breach of an oral contract to purchase Larson Ford Sales, Inc., to hold plaintiffs' harmless from certain debts and obligations of the business, and to provide other benefits;

b. interference with business relations in inducing third parties to breach their agreement with Mr. Larson;

c. breach of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment, and conversion in that defendant Stephen Wade used his status as a bishop in the L. D. S. Church to acquire confidential information from the plaintiffs and thereafter used that information to convert substantial assets of Larson Ford Sales, Inc. (R. 2-10).

---

1/Plaintiffs' present counsel not acquainted with this case at the district court level and appeared only after prior counsel had appealed the extension issue, Case No. 88-0344, to the Utah Supreme Court.

2. On July 9, 1987, plaintiffs filed their first amended complaint which stated the same causes of action (R. 11-19, Add. 1).

3. On July 28, 1987, defendants filed a motion to dismiss (R. 37-38).

4. Defendants grounded their motion to dismiss on confirmation of the Second Amended Plan of Reorganization of Stephen Wade, Inc., not a party to this suit, in the bankruptcy case of Larson Ford Sales, Inc., confirmed on June 10, 1983, more than four years prior to the filing of the Larsons' initial complaint in this action (R.40-42).

5. Despite this position, defendants never placed any portion of the confirmed plan into the record of the present proceedings.

6. Plaintiffs opposed the motion to dismiss by arguing that the statute of limitations constitutes an affirmative defense which must be affirmatively pled by way of answer (R. 46-48) and further by the affidavit of plaintiff Walter P. Larson in which he states:

(a) that he learned of the default under the oral contract only on June 24, 1983, within four years prior to filing of this suit, when he was ordered to vacate the Larson Ford Sales facilities;

(b) that the \$200,000.00 parts inventory converted by defendants was intact as of June 24, 1983 and that an official sale of the final \$5,000.00 portion of those parts did not occur

until eighteen months after June 24, 1983; and

(c) that Stephen Wade, Inc., which submitted the plan of reorganization confirmed by the bankruptcy court, was not a party to the present suit (R. 49-50).

7. Notwithstanding this opposition, the district court considered defendants' motion to dismiss as a motion for summary judgment and dismissed plaintiffs' amended complaint with prejudice (R. 73-74).

NOTE: The Court should consider the following information only if it grants plaintiffs' pending motion to supplement the record:

8. The Stephen Wade, Inc. plan of reorganization was contingent upon the occurrence of future events. Article IX of the plan provided:

"IX. CONDITIONS TO CONFIRMATION

"In addition to the conditions to Confirmation set forth in Bankruptcy Code, and notwithstanding any other provisions of the Plan, the effectiveness of the Plan shall be conditioned upon each of the following conditions which may be waived by Valley [Valley Ford, formed to implement the plan] in its sole discretion:

"A. Issuance of the Confirmation Order by June 1, 1983 in form and substance satisfactory to Valley including a provision assuming the J. J. Inc. lease and assigning it to

Valley and a provision terminating the Debtor's franchise agreements with Ford Motor Company listed on Attachment 2 provided that Ford appoints Valley as its authorized dealer at Debtor's location.

"B. Approval by Ford Motor Company of Valley Ford, Inc. as its authorized dealer at Debtor's location.

"C. Receipt of the loan proceeds on or before the Effective Date from Citizens Bank and Commercial Security Bank under the terms as described in Article VI." [Emphasis supplied.] (Add. 9).

9. In addition, by Order dated June 24, 1983, exactly four years prior to the filing of the complaint herein, the Bankruptcy Court expressly modified its confirmation order "to allow the Plan to become effective when both conditions B and C as outlined in Article IX of the Plan are satisfied." (Add. 10).

10. Finally, by a follow-up Order, dated July 1, 1983, the Bankruptcy Court fixed July 11, 1983 as the effective date of the plan of reorganization, well within four years prior to the June 24, 1987 filing of plaintiffs' complaint herein. (Add. 11).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Dismissal on a motion to dismiss, considered as a motion for summary judgment, may be sustained only if (1) there is no genuine issue as to any material fact; and (2) the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

Defendants below relied wholly on confirmation of a plan of

reorganization, more than four years prior to this suit, by a non-party to the contract alleged in this suit. This cannot be sustained as a matter of law. The concept of breach of contract by a non-party to that contract is foreign to the law. No cause of action for breach of contract accrued to plaintiffs upon confirmation of that plan because the corporate proponent of that plan is not a party to the oral contract alleged in this suit. Moreover, defendants elected not to place any of the terms of the plan itself into the record. It is therefore impossible to conclude, as a matter of law, that a breach even occurred.

The facts and inferences of Walter P. Larson's affidavit in opposition to the motion to dismiss create clear issues of fact requiring reversal of the dismissal below. By that affidavit, Stephen Wade, Inc. is not a party to the oral contract, no breach of contract occurred until plaintiffs were actually evicted from the dealership, a date within four years years prior to the filing of this suit, and the assets of the dealership were intact at that time.

The district court erred in dismissing this complaint, prior to answer, because a limitations defense is an affirmative defense which must be specifically pleaded.

In the event the court orders supplementation of the record on plaintiffs' pending motion, the court should also consider that the terms of the plan, not placed into the record by defendants, were expressly contingent upon future, uncertain

events and that confirmation was not finally effective until July 11, 1983, a date within four years prior to filing of this suit.

#### ARGUMENT

To sustain the district court's dismissal of plaintiff's amended complaint, on the basis of the present record, this court must find that (1) the bare fact of confirmation of a plan of reorganization, terms undisclosed, by a non-party to the oral contract alleged in this suit constitutes a breach of that oral contract, as a matter of law; and that (2) the affidavit of Walter Park Larson creates no issue of fact requiring trial.

In making these decisions, the court must view the facts in the light most favorable to plaintiffs, including all reasonable inferences arising therefrom. Spor v. Crested Butte Silver Mining, 740 P. 2d 1304 (Ut., 1987); Geneva Pipe Co. v. S. & H. Ins. Co., 714 P. 2d 648 (Ut., 1986). Further, because summary judgment may be granted properly only as a matter of law, an appellate court is free to reappraise the district court's legal conclusions. Atlas Corporation v. Clovis National Bank, 737 P. 2d 225 (Ut., 1987).

Under these standards, the dismissal below simply cannot be sustained.

I. DEFENDANTS' OWN EVIDENCE IS NOT LEGALLY SUFFICIENT TO PROVE, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT THE PLAN OF REORGANIZATION BREACHED THE CONTRACT BETWEEN PLAINTIFFS AND DEFENDANTS.

Defendants below relied wholly on the bare fact of confirmation of a plan of reorganization by Stephen Wade, Inc.--



not a party to the oral contract alleged in this suit--more than four years prior to filing of this suit, to obtain dismissal of this suit as a matter of law. Plaintiffs submit that a simple analysis of the record will show why this was error.

First, the concept of breach of contract by a non-party to that contract is wholly foreign to the law of contracts. Stephen Wade, Inc., proponent of the plan of reorganization, is not even a party to the oral contract alleged in this suit. In light of this, how can any action taken by Stephen Wade, Inc. be said, as a matter of law, to breach that contract? To be sure, Stephen Wade is, by affidavit the "principal shareholder" of Stephen Wade, Inc., but defendants, who prevailed below, are entitled to no favorable inference from that fact.

Nothing here makes the actions of Stephen Wade, Inc., a corporation, equal the actions of Stephen Wade, an individual, as a matter of law. It is entirely conceivable that Stephen Wade, the individual, continued to stand by his personal commitment to plaintiffs, notwithstanding the corporate position of Stephen Wade, Inc., whatever that undisclosed position truly is.

Second, "the true test in determining when a cause of action arises or accrues is to establish the time when the plaintiff could have first maintained the action to a successful conclusion. In other words, an action cannot be maintained until a right of action is complete, and hence the statute of limitations cannot run before that time." Limitation of Actions, Section 107, 51 Am Jur 2d 679-680.

Can this Court say, as a matter of law, that plaintiffs could have successfully sued these defendants immediately after Stephen Wade, Inc., a non-party to the oral contract, filed its plan of reorganization? Clearly not, for the simple reason that these defendants could oppose such a suit by saying, "we are not Stephen Wade, Inc., we have done nothing in breach of our contract, we still intend to perform."

Third, despite arguing that confirmation of the Stephen Wade, Inc. plan of reorganization breached the oral contract as a matter of law, defendants put no evidence into the record to prove that point.

Defendants chose not to place the plan of reorganization into the record. This is a curious omission of itself. For all the present record shows, the plan of reorganization could provide that Stephen Wade, Inc., the corporation, will assume and pay the contract obligations of Stephen Wade, the individual, to plaintiffs. If the plan did so, it would certainly prove nothing on which to base a breach of contract.

Or, the plan of reorganization could be wholly contingent upon the occurrence of future events. These future events could be of such a nature that their non-occurrence would force defendants here to honor their verbal contract with plaintiffs. Perhaps the plan requires a subsequent infusion of capital and a dealership agreement, without which defendants would have no choice but to abide by the terms of their verbal contract with plaintiffs.

All of these inferences flow legitimately from the affidavit of Walter P. Larson that he did not know defendants were not going to honor their contract until evicted from the dealership on June 24, 1983 and are permissible since defendants chose not to place any of the terms of the plan of reorganization into the record.

There is no question that a party's evidence must be sufficient to prove his entitlement to summary judgment, as a matter of law, "strict observance" of this principle being required. Summary Judgment, Section 16, 73 Am. Jur. 2d 737. Absent proof of the terms of the plan itself, the evidence put forth to support defendants' motion is legally insufficient to sustain summary judgment.

## II. THE AFFIDAVIT OF WALTER P. LARSON CREATES TRIABLE ISSUES OF FACT ON THE LIMITATIONS ISSUE.

Plaintiffs are entitled to the following inferences from the affidavit of Walter P. Larson:

(1) that the contract alleged in this suit was not breached by the plan of reorganization of Stephen Wade, Inc., Stephen Wade, Inc. not being a party to the oral contract;

(2) that the contract was not breached until Walter Park Larson was affirmatively evicted from the dealership.

(3) that plaintiffs' lack of knowledge of any breach of contract prior to eviction from the dealership was entirely reasonable, Stephen Wade, Inc. not even being a party to the oral

contract.

(4) that plaintiffs' lack of knowledge of any breach of contract prior to eviction from the dealership was exactly what defendants wanted because of doubts as to the ability of Stephen Wade, Inc. to perform its plan of reorganization.

As with the making of a contract, a breach of contract cannot rise from a secret intention of a party to that contract. No breach occurs until that intention is manifest by some overt act. The only overt act of any party to the contract alleged in this suit is the order evicting Walter P. Larson from the premises of the Larson Ford dealership. Plaintiffs are entitled to the inference, on this record, that no breach of contract occurred until that time. Since that time is within four years of the filing of this suit, the order of dismissal below should be reversed.

These inferences protect plaintiffs' first two causes of action from dismissal on a summary basis.

Plaintiffs' third cause of action alleges breach of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment, and conversion. By the affidavit of Walter P. Larson, these torts were not completed until eighteen months after June 24, 1983, when the final \$5,000.00 of assets involved were disposed of by official sale. (R. 50). The reasonable inference of this affidavit is that the torts alleged continued well within the limitation period of Section 78-12-25(3), Utah Code, relied upon below.

The order dismissing this cause of action should be

reversed, as well.

III. THE COURT ERRED IN DECIDING A STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS ISSUE, AN AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE, IN THE CONTEXT OF A RULE 12(B)(6) MOTION TO DISMISS.

By Rule 8(c), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, any statute of limitations is made an affirmative defense. By Rule 9(h), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, specific identification of the section and subsection relied upon is required in the pleading of that defense.

The Rule 12(b)(6) defense of failure to state a claim is inconsistent with a limitations defense. Plaintiffs' complaint clearly states a claim. The objection made is not that no claim is stated, but that the claim stated is not timely. Defendants should have been required to answer before seeking dismissal upon a limitations issue, in the context of a motion for summary judgment.

NOTE: The Court should consider the following section only if plaintiffs' pending motion to supplement the record is granted.

IV. THE PLAN OF REORGANIZATION, AS ORIGINALLY "CONFIRMED," WAS WHOLLY CONTINGENT UPON FUTURE, UNCERTAIN EVENTS. THE PLAN DID NOT FINALLY BECOME EFFECTIVE UNTIL JULY 11, 1983, WELL WITHIN FOUR YEARS PRIOR TO FILING OF THIS SUIT.

A review of the plan of reorganization makes clear why the defendants never placed the plan itself into the record of this suit. The plan contains an Article containing "Conditions to Confirmation," by which the entire plan is moot if either bank

funding of the plan or a Ford dealership agreement are not obtained (Add. 9, p 11).

Moreover, by two subsequent orders, the effective date of the plan of reorganization was first continued indefinitely to account for contingencies yet to occur (Add. 10), and later specifically fixed at July 11, 1983, well within four years prior to filing of this suit (Add. 11).

None of this was presented to the court below, precisely because it reconciles plaintiffs' lack of knowledge of any breach of contract with confirmation of the plan of reorganization. Despite that plan, plaintiffs were led to believe that the contract would still be honored, precisely because the success of the plan was uncertain.

All of this creates clear issues of fact precluding summary dismissal.

#### CONCLUSION

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