1990

Walter P. Larson, an individual, and Larson Ford Sales, Inc., a Delaware corporation v. Stephen Wade, individually, and Stephen Wade, Bryce Wade, Kipp Wade, dba SBK, a general partnership, and Valley Ford, a Utah corporation : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Wades established the uncontroverted fact that the creditor's plan of reorganization was filed sometime before June 10, 1983, which was more than four years prior to the date the Larsons filed their complaint. The amended complaint specifically states that the filing of the creditor's plan of reorganization was a breach of the contract, and also repeatedly states that the oral contract was breached sometime prior to the filing of the creditor's plan of reorganization. The statute of limitations did not commence running from the date the Larsons' claim to have discovered any breach of the agreement or the alleged tortious conduct, but from the date of the breach or intentional tort, which was no later than June 10, 1983.

A statute of limitations for intentional torts such as those alleged in the Larsons' amended complaint begins to run with the tort or activity leading to the damage, not upon the occurrence of the last injury or damage. The statute of limitations begins to run on a tort arising directly from a contractual relationship at the time the contract was breached.

The Wades did not waive their right to assert a statute of limitations defense by filing a motion to dismiss. The motion to dismiss and supporting memorandum specified the statutes on which the Wades relied and clearly placed the Larsons on notice. Finally, the bankruptcy pleadings from 1983 that the Larsons

failed to place in the record before the trial court are not relevant. The complaint's plain allegations state that the causes of action arose prior to or concurrent with the filing of the creditor's plan of reorganization, which, by undisputed evidence, was sometime prior to June 10, 1983. The claims are barred under applicable statutes of limitation.

ARGUMENT

- I. ACCORDING TO THE ALLEGATIONS OF THE LARSONS' OWN COMPLAINT, THE CONDUCT UPON WHICH THEY BASE THEIR CLAIMS OCCURRED NO LATER THAN THE TIME OF FILING THE CREDITOR'S PLAN OF REORGANIZATION.

The trial court properly granted summary judgment on the first cause of action for breach of the oral agreement because the alleged conduct occurred more than four years prior to the filing of the Larsons' complaint. Any such claim is time-barred pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-25(1).

When a complaint alleges that the conduct upon which its various claims are based all occurred before a specific date which is outside the limitations period, the defendant is entitled to summary judgment. Commercial Equity Corporation v. Majestic Savings and Loan Association, 620 P.2d 56 (Colo. App. 1980) (summary judgment upheld where complaint alleged that conduct giving rise to wrongful foreclosure, tortious interference with contract, conversion and other claims occurred prior to specific date outside limitations period). In the instant case, the

conduct upon which each of the claims was based is alleged to have occurred prior to or concurrently with the filing of a creditor's plan of reorganization in the Larson Ford Sales bankruptcy. It is an undisputed fact that the creditor's plan was confirmed on June 10, 1983, establishing that plaintiffs' claims arose more than four years prior to June 24, 1987, the date the Larsons commenced this action.

A. The Filing Of The Stephen Wade, Inc. Creditor's Plan Of Reorganization Breached The Oral Agreement.

The Larsons' attempt to circumvent the statute of limitations by arguing that Stephen Wade, Inc., the proponent of the creditor's plan, was not a party to the oral agreement. Brief of Appellant at 11. The first amended complaint belies the Larsons' argument that the Stephen Wade, Inc. plan was not a breach of the alleged oral agreement. Paragraph 17 of the amended complaint states that the filing of the creditor's plan of reorganization "violated the contractual agreement between Plaintiffs and Defendants." R. 17. It is clear from both the complaint and Walter Larson's affidavit that the Larsons viewed the filing of a creditor's plan of reorganization by Stephen Wade, Inc., an entity which Stephen Wade controlled as president, director, and principal shareholder, (R. 40), as a breach of the oral agreement.

The Larsons argue that the Wades are required to show that the plan of reorganization breached the oral contract and

the omission of the plan from the record is therefore "curious." (Appellant's Brief at 12.) The Larsons conveniently forget that their own complaint states emphatically that creditor's plan "violates the contractual agreement between plaintiff and defendants." R. 17. The contention on page 12 of Larsons' brief to that the plan might not be a breach totally flies in the face of what Larsons alleged in their own complaint.

The Larsons seem to forget that their complaint admitted the facts upon which the district court based its ruling. Rule 56(c) provides that summary judgment is appropriate "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits" show there is no material issue of fact. Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c)(emphasis added). Parties are bound by the allegations or admissions of their pleadings. Dailey v. Barnhart, 768 P.2d 907, 909 (Okla. App. 1988). A specific allegation in a complaint is a judicial admission of the fact alleged. Kula v. Karat, Inc., 91 Nev. 100, 531 P.2d 1353, 1356 (1975); Taylor v. Pearl, 249 Or. 611, 439 P.2d 7 (1968).

Furthermore, the confirmation of the Stephen Wade, Inc. creditor's plan was, as a matter of law, a breach of the alleged oral contract. The Larsons' argument that Stephen Wade, individually, could have performed under the oral contract subsequent to confirmation of the Stephen Wade, Inc. creditor's plan

(Appellant's Brief at 12) has no basis in law. The Bankruptcy Code provides that "the court may confirm only one plan." Id. § 1129(c). The fact that Stephen Wade, individually, allowed a creditor's plan to be confirmed in contravention of his alleged contractual obligation to obtain confirmation of a debtor's plan, was a breach of the oral agreement.

The confirmation of the Stephen Wade, Inc. plan was a breach for the additional reason that Stephen Wade was the controlling person of that entity. Where a party, by a voluntary act, by his own conduct, causes failure of performance, the party has breached the agreement. See Cannon v. Stevens School of Business, Inc., 560 P.2d 1383, 1385 (Utah 1977). As president, principal shareholder, and director of Stephen Wade, Inc. (R. 40), Stephen Wade, individually, had control over the acts of his corporation. Stephen Wade, Inc.'s obtaining confirmation of a bankruptcy plan of reorganization was, therefore, an action in the control of Stephen Wade, which made performance of his obligations under the contract impossible. There is therefore no question that if there was such a contract, Stephen Wade breached it no later than June 10, 1983.

B. Whatever Its Nature, The Breach Of The Oral Contract Occurred Prior To The Date Of Filing The Creditor's Plan Of Reorganization.

As stated above, the Larsons' argument that the filing of Stephen Wade, Inc.'s creditor's plan of reorganization was not a breach of contract is inconsistent with the statements in the complaint that the filing was a breach. Further, the Larsons' contract claims are also barred because the Larsons' complaint repeatedly states that the Wades breached the oral contract prior to the submission of the creditor's plan of reorganization in the Larson Ford Sales bankruptcy.

Paragraph 4(d) of the amended complaint states that the January 1983 oral agreement for the purchase and acquisition of Larson Ford Sales required the Wades to file and obtain approval of a debtor's plan of reorganization in the Larson Ford Sales bankruptcy:

(d) Defendants agreed to submit on behalf of LARSON FORD SALES, a debtor's plan in the Chapter XI Bankruptcy and obtain approval thereof at no cost to WALTER P. LARSON. Such plan to include payment of \$175,000.00 to WALTER P. LARSON.

R. 12 (emphasis added).

Paragraph 10 of the amended complaint states that "[s]ubsequent to the breach of contract by WADE as set forth in the First Cause, the Plaintiffs negotiated an agreement with a partnership known as HGBH" R. 15 (emphasis added). The

Larsons then allege that "Defendant STEPHEN WADE, having breached his agreement with the Plaintiff, conspired with and induced the HGBH partnership to breach their contract to provide like benefits. This breach of HGBH was induced in order that the Defendant STEPHEN WADE could submit a creditor's plan in Chapter XI Bankruptcy." Amended complaint, ¶ 13; R. 15 (emphasis added). The date of confirmation of the creditor's plan of reorganization therefore becomes a reference point prior to which time the alleged conduct giving rise to the Larsons' claims must have occurred.

On its face, the complaint states that the breach occurred prior to the submission of the creditor's plan. The uncontroverted fact that the creditor's plan of reorganization proposed by Stephen Wade, Inc. was confirmed on June 10, 1983 (and the date notice was mailed to all interested parties), leaves no doubt that the alleged breach of contract occurred sometime prior to June 10, 1983. Thus, the breach of contract claim is barred under Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-25(1).

C. The Larsons' Tort Claims Are Also Time Barred Because The Facts Alleged Occurred More Than Four Years Prior To The Date Of The Larsons' Complaint.

The claims for tortious interference with business relations, breach of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment and conversion contained in the Larsons' second and third causes of

action are barred by the four year statute of limitations of Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-25(3).^{1/} The Larsons allege in paragraph 13 of the amended complaint that Stephen Wade "conspired with and induced the HGBH partnership to breach their contract to provide like benefits. This breach of HGBH was induced in order that the Defendant STEPHEN WADE could submit a creditor's plan in Chapter XI Bankruptcy." R. 15 (emphasis added). This conduct, by Larsons' own admission (see supra at 13), all occurred prior to the June 10, 1983, confirmation date.

The Larsons' breach of fiduciary duty, unjust enrichment, and conversion claims are also barred based upon the allegations of the complaint. The amended complaint states that "in the process of and concurrent with negotiations involved in the contract referred to in the first cause of action herein, the plaintiff made available to the defendant confidential data and information in order that the defendant could formulate and provide a debtor-in-possession plan for the Larson Ford Sales Chapter XI plan of reorganization." Amended Complaint, ¶ 15 (emphasis added). (R. 16). The Larsons then allege that the Wades

^{1/} While the court below based its dismissal of all claims on a four year statute of limitations, the three year limitation of § 78-12-26(2) applies to the conversion and unjust enrichment claims. This point makes no difference in this case because the Larsons' claims arose more than four years prior to the commencement of the case.

breached the fiduciary duty by utilizing the confidential information to "submit a contrary and adversary Plan to the Plaintiff's plan" to unjustly enrich the Wades and convert the Larsons' property. Amended Complaint, ¶ 17; R. 17. These claims are therefore based upon conduct which occurred at the time of submission of the creditor's plan of reorganization. The claims are barred under the four year statute of limitations of Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-25.

D. The Larsons' Punitive Damages Claim Is Time Barred.

The punitive damages claim for intentional and malicious conduct alleged in the Larsons' fourth cause of action is based upon the same conduct as the first three causes of action. R. 17-18. The claim therefore is barred by Utah Code Ann. §§ 78-12-25 and 78-12-26.

II. THE AFFIDAVIT OF WALTER LARSON DOES NOT CREATE MATERIAL ISSUES OF FACT.

The Larsons argue that they are entitled to four inferences from the affidavit of Walter Larson. Appellants' Brief at 13-14. None of the "inferences" reasonably arise from the Walter Larson Affidavit (R. 49-50) or the pleadings. One cannot reasonably infer that the Stephen Wade, Inc. creditor's plan of reorganization did not breach the alleged oral agreement when the amended complaint states that it did. (Amended Complaint, ¶ 17; R. 17.) Likewise, the Larsons are not entitled to an inference

that the alleged contract was not breached until June 24, 1983 when there are numerous statements in their amended complaint that the breach occurred prior to the filing of the creditor's plan of reorganization. (Amended Complaint, ¶¶ 10, 13 & 15; R. 15-16.) Furthermore, there is nothing in the pleadings, the affidavit of Walter Larson, or elsewhere in the record that could support an inference that the Wades wanted Larson to have no knowledge of any breach because of doubts as to whether Stephen Wade, Inc. could proceed with its plan of reorganization. The cursory affidavit of Walter Larson speaks for itself. Walter Larson does not even address the date of any breach of conduct or tortious conduct, only the date he discovered it.

Incredibly, the Larsons argue in their brief that "[t]he only overt act of any party to the contract alleged in this suit is the order evicting Walter P. Larson from the premises of the Larson Ford dealership." Appellants' Brief at 14. The Larsons cannot sweep aside the numerous allegations of overt acts and breach of contract in their amended complaint as discussed in Part IA above.

No issue of fact arises from the statement in Walter Larson's affidavit that the creditor's plan of reorganization was filed by Stephen Wade, Inc., who was not a party to the alleged contract. Brief of Appellant at 13-14. The statement does not

contradict the Wades' position, and is, in fact, consistent with the affidavit of Stephen Wade filed in support of the motion to dismiss. R. 41. As discussed in Section IA above, the Larsons' argument that Stephen Wade, Inc.'s filing a creditor's plan of reorganization could not have been a breach of the oral agreement ignores the specific statement in paragraph 17 of the amended complaint (R. 17) that filing the creditor's plan was a breach. Further, whatever the nature of the breach of the alleged agreement, the Larsons' are bound by the numerous statements in their complaint that the conduct giving rise to the claims occurred prior to the date the creditor's plan of reorganization was filed.

The statement in Walter Larson's affidavit that he first learned of a breach of the oral agreement on June 24, 1983, and that Larson did not learn that the SBA loan collateral completely disappeared until eighteen (18) months later, does not create material issues of fact. Mere ignorance of the existence of a cause of action does not prevent the running of the statute of limitations. Brigham Young University v. Paulsen Construction Company, 744 P.2d 1370 (Utah 1987). Moreover, the Larsons' complaint would have been untimely even if the the so-called "discovery" rule applied to an action for breach of an oral contract:

The discovery rule has no application when an action easily could have been filed between the date of discovery and the end of the limitation period.

Id. at 1374. Walter Larson's affidavit indicates that he was fully aware of all of his claims more than two and one-half years before the expiration of the four year statutes of limitation.

The fact that Walter Larson's affidavit indicated that some of the damage from the alleged tortious conduct may not have occurred until sometime in 1984 does not create a material issue of fact with respect to the commencement of the statute of limitations. The statute of limitations in the case of a willful, intentional tort begins to run with the tort or activity leading thereto, not when the injured party can ascertain the damages. See O Bray v. Malmberg, 26 Utah 2d 17, 484 P.2d 160, 162 (1971) (damages resulting from an intentional tort need not be shown, except nominally, for statute of limitations to commence running). According to the Larsons' own statements, the Wades' tortious conduct occurred prior to the submission of that creditor's plan. The undisputed facts are that Stephen Wade, Inc. first submitted a creditor's plan of reorganization in the spring of 1983. The creditor's plan was confirmed June 10, 1983. It is clear from the undisputed facts that the conduct complained of occurred more than four years prior to June 24, 1987.

Even if the complaint did not specifically state that the tortious conduct occurred more than four years prior to the Larsons' filing their complaint, the claims would still be barred

by the statute of limitations. Many courts hold that when a tort claim arises directly from a contractual relationship, the statute of limitations begins to run at the time the contract was breached. Kitchen Krafters, Inc. v. Eastside Bank, 789 P.2d 567, 572 (Mont. 1990). The rationale for the rule is as follows:

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